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SUMMARY

In April 2010, Oxford Archaeology North (OA Northyas commissioned by Jacobs
Engineering (UK) Ltd, to carry out an archaeolofsavey of a former industrial site
in the Peel Park area of Accrington, Lancashirentfeed on NGR SD 377480
428690). The survey was required to inform and eupgesign proposals for the
regeneration of the park and the site, which wazupied from the late eighteenth
century by a textile-manufacturing works.

The study area comprised two parcels of land, wittotal area of approximately
6000m?2. The site was occupied from the late eigitkeeentury by a water-powered
fulling mill, and redeveloped in 1810 as a caliaenfworks, known as Plantation
Mill. For a supply of water and source of powerthoof these textile works relied on
the Pleck Brook, which flows through a steep ravanethe northern boundary of the
study area. Plantation Mill was rebuilt during thel-nineteenth century, as part of a
programme of expansion to the works; it is likehatt this remodelling included the
installation of printing machines for the first @nThe complex was expanded further
prior to 1894, reflecting the continued regionabwth and concentration of the
calico-printing industry. However, the operatingmuany went into decline in the
early twentieth century and closed in 1934, witle thnill complex finally being
demolished in the 1940s.

Despite the complete demolition of the site, areld@hktablishment of scrub deciduous
woodland subsequently, the archaeological surveyealed that multi-phased
structural elements of the printworks survimesitu. Unexpected surface features also
suggest that further structural elements of thenésrworks almost certainly survive
as buried remains, sealed by the demolition debris.

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1

111

1.1.2

1.13

114

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

Peel Park is a large site, covering some 88 hextafeopen moorland,
reservoirs, deep valleys, and former industriadssion the eastern fringe of
Accrington, Lancashire. It has been identified ntashire County Council
as an area that incorporates derelict and browhfi@ind, which has
considerable potential to be cleaned up and tumeda quality public space
for the benefit of the local and regional commun{tyancashire County
Council 2009). This scheme of environmental improgat is being facilitated
by REMADE Reclamation andManagement ofDerelict Land), which is
managed by Lancashire County Council and fundedth®/ Northwest
Development Agency, as part of their commitmentackling the region’s
derelict land problem. The scheme is focusing areise key themes, which
include: improved public access routes, with negnage, seating and
interpretation; enhancing the ecological assetthefarea, such as grassland
and wetland habitats; improving the formal and iinfal recreation facilities;
and celebrating the rich heritage of the site tgloimproved interpretation of
historic features, such as Arden Hall and a fortegtile-manufacturing site
known as Plantation Mill, which lies in the soutdiseern corner of the schem
area.

Plantation Mill originated in the late eighteen#mntury as a water-powered
mill for the fulling and carding of wool. In the a nineteenth century, the
mill was converted for use as a calico printworkkere colorful and intricate

patterns were printed onto cotton goods. The raifiained in production until

1934, and was eventually demolished during the 49%Be foundations of the
buildings were covered by demolition rubble andonibed further by the

subsequent unofficial tipping of rubbish and thevedepment of scrub

vegetation and woodland (Rothwell 1979, 4-5).

The fragmentary physical remains of this importadtstrial complex survive
as low footings that are visible within the undergth, although the central
part of the former works is obscured by tipped makeSections of historic
fabric are visible within the steep-sided ravinetteg Pleck Brook, and under
the track that passes through the site.

In April 2010, Oxford Archaeology North (OA Nortlwas commissioned by
Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd, acting on behalf ohtashire County Council,
to carry out an archaeological survey of the histfabric of the mill complex
that survives above ground. The survey was requmeitiform and support
detailed proposals for the regeneration of the pamkl, specifically, the
interpretation of the mill complex. The archaeotadisurvey was carried out
in April 2010, and focused on two parts of the:sstgeservoir and associated
buildings forming the southern part of the mill qaex; and structural
remains associated with a reservoir to the eastvatiin the ravine of the
Pleck Brook.

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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1.2
121

1.2.2

1.2.3

L OCATION, TOPOGRAPHY AND GEOLOGY

The study area is situated in Peel Park, whichdistort distance to the east
of Accrington town centre, in the parish of Accriog, on the western edge of
the Pennines (Fig 1). In broad terms, the parloisided by Burnley Road (the
A679), the A56, and Plantation Road, which provitles main access route
through the southern part of the park.

The central part of Peel Park is dominated by apenrland, which rises to a
height in excess of 260m above Ordnance Datum (a@Bijst the northern
part of the park is characterised by former quaraled rough grassland, with
some areas of hard standing to the rear of prppaiperties on Burnley Road.
The southern part of the park, which includes the ef Plantation Mill,
comprises a variety of landscape features, sugéoadland plantations, steep-
sided valleys, and reservoirs and ponds. The resmainPlantation Mill
(centred on NGR SD 377480 428690) lie to the saitthe Pleck Brook,
astride an access track that forms a continuafiétiamtation Road. The site is
covered by woodland (Plate 1).

Plate 1: Recent aerial view of the site of PlardatMill

The underlying solid geology is Lower Westphaliamalc measures of the
Carboniferous era, which provided a major contrdyuto the early industrial
exploitation of the area (Ordnance Survey 1951 Thls surrounding the
town are generally formed of Carboniferous sandstpmanging from the
more recent Accrington mudstones to older gritstsoared other formations,
such as Dyneley Flag and Dandy Rock. The formerewecally used for
flagstones and roofing before the introduction oéls# slate and later for
brick-making, whilst the latter were widely usedtire locality for providing
stone setts and kerbstones (Countryside Commisk®®8, 102). The drift
cover consists primarily of soils of the Brickfiefssociation, being medium-
to fine-textured tills derived from Carboniferowsstones.

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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2. METHODOLOGY

2.1 ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY

2.1.1 The archaeological survey was consistent with aelLeW-type survey
(English Heritage 2006), and comprised an analytieeord, combined with
measured drawings and a detailed photographicdecor

2.1.2 Descriptive Record: written records using OA Northro-formarecord sheets
were made of all principal building elements, irdiéidn to any features of
historical, archaeological or architectural sigrafice. Particular attention was
made to the relationship between the various drtse buildings, especially
those that could allude to their development.

2.1.3 Instrument Survey. the plans, and outline elevations of the buildiagains
were surveyed with a reflectorless electronic dista measurer (REDM).
These were produced in order to illustrate the fquhasing and development
of the buildings. Features of historical, structu@nd archaeological
significance were annotated on to the drawings.iftustry standard CAD
package was used to produce the final drawings.

2.1.4 Photographic Survey. photography was undertaken using 35mm cameras on
archivable black and white print film as well adato transparency, and also
with a high-resolution digital SLR cameras. The tplgoaphic archive consists
of both general site views and detailed photograghfeatures of particular
interest. Given the lack of safe access to thenexbric within Area 1,
additional photographs were taken to capture detdisurveyed, and this was
corrected using CAD-based photo-correction softwereadd further detail to
the elevation drawings.

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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3. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

3.1

3.1.1

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.2.4

INTRODUCTION

The following section presents a summary ef listorical background and
chronological development of Plantation Mill. Théspreceded by a summary
of fulling mills, and an account of the calico-gmyg industry, which is
intended to place the site in its historical areht®logical context.

FULLING MILLS

Fulling was an important stage in the productionwafollen cloth which,
during the later medieval period, was England’s tmiosportant export
commodity. The fulling process fulfilled two funetis that were necessary to
produce a satisfactory finish to woollen cloth; waog, and the consolidation
of the fibres of the fabric. From the twelfth cemtonwards, fulling became a
mechanised process; fulling of woollen cloth afteraving was the earliest
textile process to be mechanised and power drivetirGore 1969, 37-8).
Water-powered fulling mills were active in Burnle@plne, Manchester and
Salford by 1300, and were numerous in all woolleamuaofacturing areas by
the late eighteenth century (Cossons 1975, 255).

Woollen cloth straight from the loom usually hasapen and loose texture,
and requires tightening. The fulling process codstés and thickens the
structure of the fabric by knitting the fibres ttiger more thoroughly, and by
shrinking them. This essentially transformed thesémess of the woven
threads into a compact and tight cloth. Fullingpadsoured the cloth to rid it
of any natural oils and greases. It involved the o$ water and several
different agents, including fuller’s earth. In esse, fuller’s earth is a fine clay
that contains a high silica component, and wasedhin the fulling process for
its degreasing and decolourising properties (PgriBi0).

After mixing water and the cleaning agent togethiee, cloth was pounded in
the resultant solution by fulling stocks or beateFke initial goal was to
remove all traces of grease by smearing the nevdyew cloth with soap,
soda and covering with hot water. This was thempiad in a trough or
between rollers until all traces of oil or greaserevremoved. The cloth was
then passed between large wooden mallets, usumbe ttimes. Initially, the
trough beneath the mallets contained urine. Therskdulling was with the
fuller's earth, and the third with hot soapy wafelipwed by a final thorough
rinsing in clean water. The amount of fulling regai was dependent on the
type of wool, the type of water, the cloth textutes temperature of the water,
and the time allowed under the fulling stocks (Bs&i1825).

Fulling stocks used a large wooden frame to supaorinclined arm with a
stock at one end. This pivoted at one end to aitde swing in an arc down
onto the cloth, which was contained in a woodendlo(Plate 2). The stocks
were usually pushed back by large cams on a hdakamaft, which was

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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powered by a waterwheel. In larger mills, a longshaft raised a series of
stocks, although fulling stocks were usually set pairs, each working
alternately and swinging like a pendulum down dhtocloth.

¥ ¥ : A
b %k i % Ao

Plate 2: Interior of a fulling mill (taken from Zoa 1607)

3.2.5 Despite the regional importance of fulling milldyeir surviving physical
remains are rare, as many were developed intorlamaning factories with
the advent of powered spinning and carding machin@ne of the few
surviving examples of the fulling mechanism in toantry, and certainly the

best example in Lancashire, is preserved at Helrashitill, near Haslingden
(OA North 2006).

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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3.3
3.3.1

3.3.2

CALICO -PRINTING |INDUSTRY

Calico printing is a term applied generically tee thrinting of any textiles,
although the term originated to describe specificte printing of cotton
cloth (Murphy 1911, 2). The first printed cottorotti, known as chintayas
introduced into England from India during the seéeenth century. At that
time, clothes in Britain were made from wool, linem silk, and plain dyed
with natural colours. Indian chintz was very fir@ton, brightly coloured with
exotic patterns (O’Brien 1792). It quickly becanestiionable and English
printers, based primarily in London, began to mantifre copies, whilst
wealthy wool and silk manufacturers tried to stbntz from being imported
(Turnbull 1951). In the 1720s chintz was made dlegith those wearing it
risking being arrested. In Lancashire, weavers yeed an alternative cloth,
with a linen warp and cotton weft known as fust{@&spin 1995) This was
exempt from the law, and dyers and printers fouagisrof copying the Indian
chintz using fustian. When public demand led tordgulations against cotton
cloth being removed, British printers and dyersenaole to produce their own
chintz. This quickly became more popular than thparted material.

The block printing method was the oldest methog@raiting, using engraved
wooden blocks in a similar manner to reproducingkodlustrations by
woodcuts. It was ., .

invented in China in%:

2500 BC, but not used in
Europe until the
seventeenth century. Th
block was made of
layers of wood
sandwiched together;-
one side of which had a-
raised printing surfac
that varied depending on-
the type of cloth and the
pattern to be printed:
Three types of bloc
were commonly used
print on cotton cloth:
line blocks for printing :
outines and  smallj
details; blotch blocks
with felted surfaces for
large areas of colour
and groundblocks also
felted, for small areas o
colour. Each colour wa
applied with a differen
block; there could be

over a 100 blocks in a set. Plate 3: An engraving of 1839, showing a printematrk
(taken from Chaloner and Musson 1965)

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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Plate 4: Patterns used by eighteenth-century bfoakters (from O’Brien 1792)
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3.3.3

3.34

3.35

To help the printer match up each part of the patieere were pitch pins on
the corners of the block. In the nineteenth centhey block printer worked
with a tierer, usually a child, who pushed a trpltd printing colour along the
printing table. Frequently, such printing formedtp a bleaching and dyeing
concern, providing a cloth finishing service to tegtile trade. A large works
would employ a few hundred hand-block printers,heatan with his own
printing table or bench. Many firms also had thewn block-making
department. Although it began to be replaced arothred 1770s-80s by
machine printing, hand-block printing lasted wedlsp the mid-1800s (Jones
1996).

Machine printing of cloth by roller or cylinder wasvented in the 1770s. A
patent (no. 1007) was granted to Charles Tayloonids Walker, and Joseph
Adkin, all of Manchester, in 1772 for printing bygraved wooden rollers
(Turnbull 1951). The printing machine with the patt engraved on copper
rollers was introduced in the 1780s, and graduallperseded hand-block
methods during the first half of the nineteenthtagn(Ashmore 1969). There
were many attempts to mechanise block printing,they could not compete
with the speed of roller printing machines. ThorBad, of Walton-le-Dale in
Lancashire, took out a patent in 1783 (no. 1378)af@opper-covered roller
engraved on its curved surface, which worked inrtherse manner to hand
blocks, ie the engraved lines were the printing area, andofimareas were
kept clear of colour (Plate 5). Instead of the grattbeing on a flat surface, it
was engravedround a copper roller.

wl : et

Plate 5: The mechanised calico-printing procesa totton mill during the 1830s, showing
on the left a machine with engraved copper rolteassferring the pattern onto the cloth,
and on the right is a block printer using a handwead wooden block.
(drawn by T Allom and engraved by J Carter, ancetakom Chaloner and Musson 1965)

Cloth was passed continuously from an overheacerrdhrough the nip
between the engraved roller and a plain rollerechk pressure bowl. The
lower part of the engraved roller dipped into aoceol trough, and as it
revolved its surface was wiped clean by a doctdfelrefore the cloth reached

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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3.3.6

3.3.7

it. Colour was thus left only in the engraved linegich transferred the
pattern onto the cloth. The pattern was printebvitdth, and repeated itself in
the distance equal to the circumference of the eoppller. At first, single
colours only were printed, but soon multi-colouramiaes were invented with
several rollers, each carrying part of the patterd fitted with its own colour
trough and doctor knife. The cloth passed eaclerall sequence, building up
the final multi-coloured design (Baines 1825). Tdh@th moved continuously
through the machine and, unlikbock printing, was much quicker. There were
many ways of making the pattern on the copper mohand engraving; mill
engravingwhere the pattern is pressed into the copper;abirey, where the
pattern is cut into the copper surface by acid.

Once printed, the inks had to be fixed to the ¢latid any excess mordant or
other chemicals needed to be removed. The firstgasy known as ageing,
aimed to remove the mordants and acetic acid wsér the dyes to the cloth
during the printing process. This process was oedlly understood after
1800, when it was realised that moisture was asoired during the drying
of the cloth (Turnbull 1951, 62), in order to ‘agék) the colour. In the humid
atmosphere of England, particularly in north-wessgland, where the industry
had become specialised by this time, it had be#itigmt for ageing rooms to
be placed near rivers or pondBiq). These rooms were originally heated by
flues from fires, and later by steam pipes, but Became necessary to reduce
the ageing time, which had previously been about fays ipid), whilst
increasing the quantities of cloth, the amountte&s required in the ageing
rooms soon became too great for men to work wifyncit, 69.

The first enclosed steaming machine was inventediobyn Thom in 1849, and
was further developed by Walter Crum in 1856, when applied it at
Thornliebank Printworks il§id). Uptake by the major printworks ensued,
culminating in the highly successful ‘Rapid Aggrgtented by Mather & Platt
in 1879, which comprised an enclosed metal steatiagnber with rollers for
continuous running (Plate 6). This revolutioniskd processing of prints and
long outlived the types of colour (mordents and etafle colourings) for
which it was first devised (Mather & Platt 1958).

Plate 6: Mather and Platt continuous ageing machiMerphy 1911)

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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3.3.8

3.3.9

After the cloth had been aged, it still containedesal impurities, namely;
excess mordant rendered insoluble by steamingjusumpsoluble compound;
and thickening matter (gums and starches) usedcglysrinting (Turnbull
1951, 66). It was discovered in the mid-eighteecghtury that cow dung,
mixed with water, was a very efficient agent fommving these residues, and
its use in the process, which became known as idghgontinued well into
the twentieth centuryilfid). By this time, the process had become highly
mechanised, and again dominated by machinery desigg Mather & Platt
of Manchester. An account of dunging from 1911 (phy 1911, 34)
describes a dunging range as having three bathéyshbeing heated to 75°C,
and containing512 gallons(2328 litres)of water, 16lb(7.3kg) of phosphate
of soda, 16I(7.3kg) of ground chalk, and 8I§3.6kg) of ammonia liquot
The second bath, for which no temperature was pecso was presumably
cold, was of similar constituents except that tlaenrmonia liquor was
replaced with 100lb (45.4kg) of cow dung The final bath, again at 75°C,
contained 500 gallong(2273litres)of water, 50I(22.7g)of cow dung and 5Ib
(2.3kg) of ground chalk The cloth was passed on roller through the fwst
baths over a period of around one minute, but neethin the final bath for
approximately half an houibid), following which it was washed thoroughly
with water.

The dyes used in all branches of the textile ingusntil the mid-nineteenth
century were natural, and came mainly from aninfedgcochineal), plantseg
woad, logwood), shell-fishre@g murex and purpura, which formed the ‘imperial
purple’ of Roman times), and minerals. Indigo aratder were the two most
important dyes, both used extensively in Europeghm eighteenth century
(O’Neill 1862). Indigo is a plant native to Indiadother Asian countries and
forms a blue dye. Madder is a red dye from thesadftthe madder plant,
imported mainly from the Middle East. Turkey Reddgnade in that country,
could not be copied, and up to the eighteenth cgmiothes were exported to
Turkey for dyeing and re-imported. In 1780, howeRworelles set up the first
Turkey Red factory at Blackley near Manchestereraftiscovering that the
secret to the dye was the use of a range of madaraiuding oil, oak galls,
alum, dung, and ox-blood (Cossons 1975).

3.3.10 The simplest way of dyeing was mixing a colouringat with water in a vat

and placing a textile within the dye bath. The itexibres would then absord

the colour, although many natural colours do notwell, or cannot be made

into dyes easily; at this time there was no natgraén dye, and textiles had to
be dyed yellow then blue. After dyeing the clotheravfixed in a steaming

cottage, effectively a steam room; later in theeteenth century, steam was
directed at the cloth as it was drawn over heat#drs (Aspin 2000).

3.3.11 The first commercial artificial dye was mauve an@jJiwhich was extracted

from coal-tar, a waste product from gas-works, byligvh Henry Perkins, a

student of the Royal College of Chemistry, in 18B@. was trying to make

quinine, but discovered by adding alcohol, he cquizduce a rich purple dye.
Immediately he set up his own company for the dyk ay 1859, the dye was
the height of fashion, with Queen Victoria weariagmauve dress to the
International Exhibition of 1862 (Aspin 2000).

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010
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3.4

3.4.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

3.4.4

THE GROWTH OF THE TEXTILE INDUSTRY IN ACCRINGTON AND EAST
L ANCASHIRE

The weaving of woollens and the production of linegre important trades in
Lancashire throughout the sixteenth century, whién and mixed fabrics
classed as small wares and fustians started to m@alarity, with cotton
frequently forming the weft in the latter fabritiet earliest known reference to
cotton in Lancashire dates from 1601, when it iswto@ed in the will of a
Bolton fustian weaver (Wadsworth and Mann 1931, TH)ring the second
half of the eighteenth century, the technical ratioh in the cotton-spinning
industry was largely responsible for the dramatiarge to the economic and
social structure of the region, and resulted inttaasformation of Lancashire
from an isolated and predominantly rural regionataextile-manufacturing
centre of international repute.

By the end of the eighteenth century, the arearafcAccrington supported
numerous water-powered textile mills, such as thienfy mill on Pleck Brook.
The area also emerged as an important centre apidly growing calico-
printing trade, with important works being estddid at Broad Oak,
Scaitcliffe, and Church Bank in Accrington, Foxhdbank in Oswaldtwistle,
several works in Clayton-le-Moors (Oakenshaw Prorks and the Hyndburn
Printworks), and at Baxenden (Fig 2). One of theie=st, however, was the
Brookside works near Oswaldtwistle, where hand4bloalico printing was
started by Robert Peel m1764, representing the genesis of what became the
Peel textile empire. The works was abandoned fafigwlisturbances of 1779,
although it was recommenced in 1818. By 1846, \lusks works housed four
printing machines, 104 block printing tables and steam engines (Graham
1846). Printing finally ceased at Brookside in 18&#, following a short
period of use as a bleachworks and then as a pap&s, the buildings were
all demolished (Rothwell 1993, 9).

The Peel family also established the Church BamktWworks in Accrington,
which commenced in is 1772 (Graham 1846). The works occupied the site
of a water-powered corn mill, which had existed the site during the
thirteenth century. By 1778, the works included atdd new printshops and
dyehouses, and major extensions over the next a6s yesulted in Church
Bank becoming the centre of Peel, Yates & Compamytth-east Lancashire
business. Machine printing was introduced after513@8d, in 1801, a 24hp
beam engine manufactured by John Blackie was ledtatepresenting the
inception of steam power in the local area. By 18h2 works housed four
roller printing machines, two surface printers d@&8 block printing tables.
The works remained in the hands of the Peel faomiyl 1836, when it was
sold to Frederick Steiner, previously manager ef ¢themical department at
Broad Oak Works (Ashmore 1969, 258).

By 1793, Peel, Yates & Company had also taken dker Foxhill Bank
Printworks in Oswaldtwistle, which had been estdidd by a Mr Brewer in

1785 (Graham 1846, 378). The works were leasedrteed Simpson, William
Bury, EV Fox and James Langdon in 1813, who pumsthathe works
subsequently and began a period of major extensiamduding the
introduction of machine printing. The firm eveniyabecame Simpson &
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3.4.5

3.4.6

Young during the mid-1840s, by which date the wonksised 14 printing
machines and 273 hand-block tables, with power idealv by a 65hp beam
engine (Graham 1846, 378).

Another important printworks in the area was thek&whaw Works in
Clayton-le-Moors, which was establisheccit786 by Jonathan Peel, and sold
to the firm of Taylor, Fort and Bury in 1787. Thism eventually became
Fort, Brothers & Co which, in 1846, operated eighihting machines, 229
hand-block tables, two steam engines, and a laegerwheel (Graham 1846).

Arguably the most important calico printworks iretarea, however, was that
at Broad Oak in Accrington. This was founded in 238 bleaching crofts by
Taylor, Fort, Bury & Co of Oakenshaw (Graham 18366). James Bury
withdrew in 1794 to run Sabden Printworks, and 811 Taylor & Fort
dissolved the partnership. In 1812, the works weken over by Thomas
Hargreaves, previously a manager for the firm, adam Dugdale
(Manchester Time22 December 1893). A plan of the works dated 1813
illustrates a typical layout of an early printwork$he most striking feature is
the series of separate shops or departments diergjream from east to west:
a wash house, two dye houses, sour house, bleabbunge, blue dyehouse
and singeing house, dry house, stove house, laigé lpuse, block shop,
machine room, and old print shop (Rothwell 1973)wer was provided by
seven waterwheels and the cloth moved downstream fine end of the
works to the other as it was processed. The wotgareled greatly after 1816,
steam power was introduced, and new print shopgesteThe works housed
three single colour machines, 216 tables, two steagines of 10hp, one of
14hp and one 20hp by 1829. By 1846, the works hibd2emachines, 300
tables, five steam engines (25hp, two 14hp, twdhfl@nd water power, with
approximately 850 employees (Graham 1846). Expanlseiween 1880 and
1890 increased the number of machines to 32, andhéylatter date 56
buildings of various sizes occupied the site. Abd@00 people were
employed at the works during this period. A majoodarnisation and
reconstruction scheme was implemented after 1920 naw printshops were
built in early 1930s. The works contracted after riowar II; machine
printing ended in 1958, engraving ceased in 196@ s$creen printing
department closed in 1966, and the finishing opmratwere transferred to
Loveclough in 1970.
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3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

3.54

AANTATION MILL

Plantation Mill Printworks was originally a fullingnill, established in the
early 1790s; it was working in 1793, when tBkckburn Mailrecorded the
drowning of a young man in a reservoir of watePkntation Mill (Crossley
and Ainsworth 1995, 50). By 1797, the mill appearave been occupied by
the firm of William Hacking & Co, baize and flannelanufacturers, who are
named in a newspaper article of 17@ér{don Gazette25 Nov 1797). Henry
Aspinall joined the partnership in the same yeat, arhen the firm was finally
dissolved in 1803, Aspinall wake only remaining original membekdndon
Gazette 19 Nov 1803).

It is a little uncertain precisely who occupied timll subsequently. John
Graham, writing in 1846, considered that the milswiconverted for use as a
printworks inc 1804,with a few block printing tables, although this iness
was short lived (Graham 1846). Rothwell, howewtates that in 1804 the mill
comprised a three-storey wool carding mill, powebgda 36' high interior
overshot waterwheel, a wool fulling mill with a 2Wershot wheel, and a dry
house (Rothwell 1979, 4-5). Rothwell considers thatsite was converted to
calico printing in 1810 by the firm of Oldham & Hivhg.

In 1814, the mill was occupied by Gibson, Swain &, @vho are listed as
calico printers at Plantation Mills in a trade diery for 1818 (Rogerson
1818, 62). A newspaper article of 1819, howevezniidies a Mr Greaves as
the calico printer at Plantation Mill. This articiéso states that Greaves lived
in a house that adjoined the millahcaster Gazettd8 September 1819).
Swain died in 1820, and the partnership was digsblizondon Gazette24
October 1820), and business was continued by GiasdrGreaves until 1826,
when they were declared bankrupbdon Gazetté1l June 1826). The extent
of the mill during this period is depicted on arplaf 1824, which provides the
earliest known survey of the site (AL C15/C@late 7). This plan was
produced for Henry Aspinall, and whilst detail scking, four buildings
situated around a large pond or reservoir can Beedied, together with
additional reservoirs situated to the north andtwes

After bankruptcy in 1826, the firm became Greau2spham & Grimshaw.

James Grimshaw was the foreman, but later took entrely after the deaths
of the other partners. Although the works were alviy the Hargeaves
family, James Grimshaw’s company continued to rurthroughout the

nineteenth century and into the early twentiethtusn becoming James
Grimshaw & Sons. James Grimshaw was consideredobn&ccrington’s

more notable inhabitants and an exemplary empl¢§eossley 1930, 113).
Grimshaw is named as the owner of the printworksewspaper article of
1842, when the works was attacked by a niRiegton Chronicle8 September
1842). It housed four machines, 72 tables, and tab®® employees in 1846
(Graham 1846). This early uptake of printing maekisuggests that the firm
was at the forefront of the new technology, althobpck printing appears to
have been retained within the printworks, formihg tnajority of the output.
During this period, production at the mill was centrated on the printing of
‘purple plates with machine’ and ‘no delaine#idq). Purple plates were
economical dress prints in one or two shades ofdeagdurple, usually with
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simple spot and trail motifs. Delaine, a wool mnetufabric, was normally
block printed, and was intended for a middling ettér clientele; there was a
general shortage of high-end work at this time yRaS pers comm).
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Plate 7: Extract from a plan of the site producedHlenry Aspinall in 1824 (AL C15/C61)

3.5.5 The first clear plan of the site is provided by lnance Survey first edition
6”: 1 mile map of 1848 (Fig 3), which depicts theustures and reservoirs of
the Plantation Mill complex. The bridge over PleBkook can certainly be
inferred, with the majority of structures laying the south, sandwiched
between three reservoirs. The largest buildingssymably representing the
heart of the manufacturing process, lie withinehstern part of the site.

3.5.6 The mill was subject to a fire in 1860, which wagarted in the local press:
‘On Sunday night last, a fire was discovered in ohehe buildings of the
above works, belonging to Mr. James Grimshaw. Thi&ling stands alone,
although there are others very near to it filledhwdry goods. The roof was
soon in flames, and had there not been a fire engpnnected with the works,
the damage must have been considerable, for itaMasg time before the
Accrington fire brigade could get their heavy emgiio the spot. However,
when they did arrive, the fire was soon put oute Blamage is thought to be
about £50, which is covered by insurand@'gston Guardiar21l April 1860).
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3.5.7

3.5.8

3.5.9

During this period, it appears that the company emgaged in commission
printing for particular markets in several distiwet styles (P Sykas pers
comm).

The mill is also mentioned in a newspaper advertesg of 1880, which refers
to the proposed sale of the sigdgckburn Standard.0 July 1880). However,
detail is lacking, and it remains unknown whetheras actually sold at this
date.

The subsequent 25”: 1mile Ordnance Survey editioh883 (Fig 4) provides
a more detailed view of the complex, showing ih&ve expanded to the south
and west. The sluice at the eastern end of Arsanhined on the map, whilst
the remainder of the buildings are only shown wchlplan.

The No 3 reservoir at Plantation Mill is mentionieada newspaper article of
1899, as it provided the home for an exceptionkdhge fish. The fish in
question was a trout, which weighed 5Ibs 20z, amld yust over 2ft long
(Weekly Standar@4 June 1899).

3.5.10 A small, square structure attached to the wesieena the largest structure,

iIs marked as a chimney on the following editioril®fl1, strongly suggesting
that a boiler lay in the rectangular structuredsete

3.5.11 After the death of WD Grimshaw in 1923, a limitezhgpany was formed with

FW Greenwood as the managing director. Part oivbwiks during this period
is captured on a photograph dated 1927 (Plate [8% dhows two buildings
that both appear on the Ordnance Survey map of @84Be western fringe of
the mill complex, straddling Plantation Road. Thwea# building on the
western side of the road lies adjacent to the emahthe Pleck Brook. As
such, it is tempting to identify this as a compdneinthe eighteenth-century
water-powered textile mill site, either the fullingill or the carding mill,
although firm evidence is lacking. The intendedchion of the building range
on the opposite side of Plantation Road is sinyjilanhcertain, although its
position on the periphery of the complex suggds#s it was ancillary to the
principal manufacturing buildings. The locationsboth of these buildings lay
outside the area of the present archaeologicaégurv

3.5.12 Both buildings may also be seen in part on anofietograph of the mill

complex, which similarly dates to 1927 (Plate dislview shows the works

to have incorporated two large chimneys, the pwsstiof which suggest that
the principal manufacturing areas were focusedhéndastern part of the site.
This implies that the primary source of power ie thill was steam, as these
buildings are not clustered along the banks oPieek Brook.
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Plate 8: Photograph of part of Plantation Mill irf27 (AL HO1/M314 903)

Plate 9: Photograph of Plantation Mill in 1927 (AlO1/M314 905)

3.5.13 The works closed 1934 (Rothwell 1979, 4-5), and yaxhased by the Co-
operative Workers’ Society for conversion to a msgd dairy in 1936, but the
plan never materialised. Demolition followed, ahé site was later used as a

tip.
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4.  ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY

4.1
4.1.1

4.2
421

INTRODUCTION

The survey comprised the recording of extant sinattremains within two
areas (Figs 3, 4, and 5). The northern area (Ajeaak located within and
along the southern side of a deep ravine, thoughave housed a waterwheel
associated with an eighteenth-century fulling r(fdection 3.4.1, aboyeThe
second area (Area 2), was situated to the southcamprised the southern
extent of the former building complex, borderingextant reservoir. Another
reservoir, situated at the eastern end of Aread deen largely infilled during
the demolition of the mill complex.

AREA 1

Area 1 comprised some 2200m?, and was dominatédebgteep ravine for the
Pleck Brook (Plate 10). This area incorporatedrémains of three structural
elements: a sluice from the former reservoir bandethe eastern boundary of
the area; a bridge over the sluice; and the remsnaina retaining wall along
the southern side of the ravine beyond the slulkbg €). A raised area
between the ravine and a trackway, marking thehswotedge of Area 1, also
had three visible features: a wall foundation; antVert/tank; and a series of
walls which appear to be associated with horticeltyardening activity.

Plate 10: Looking north-east across the ravine l&fcR Brook, beyond the reservoir

4.2.2 Sluice: the sluice formed a controlled water channel frdm north-west

corner of the former reservoir, into the naturalteweourse of Pleck Brook,
which flows to the west in a deep ravine (Plate. IlHe majority of the

remains of the walls of the reservoir, and the exasend of the sluice are
overgrown, and have become earthfast, particulamlythe northern side (Fig
7). The north wall of the sluice (Wall A1_1) emesgeom the undergrowth as
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a straight, east/west-aligned wall of coursed loEndstone-rubble
construction (Plate 11). The wall is bonded in wéggpeared to be a pale lime
mortar, although the wall contained a large praparof hungry joints. It was
exposed for a length of 3.9m, and survived to aimam height of 2.15m
(Fig 8), which corresponds to present ground leanet] the level of the track,
which crosses the bridge immediately to the welsis Probably represents the
original full height of the wall, which would mosikely have been capped
with an additional course of coping stones. Atwesstern end, the north wall
abuts the bridge (Plate 11), demonstrating thatat a later construction.

Plate 11: North wall of sluice (A1_1) with rebate Eluice gate

4.2.3 Positioned approximately centrally within the extéabric of the north wall is
the housing of the sluice gate (Fig 8; Plate 1hjs Tomprises a rebate in the
wall, 0.22m wide, 0.31m deep, and 1.13m high, ai¢howhere the wall
facing survives on the eastern side of the aperthis has a straight-edged
return, suggesting the rebate for the sluice gatgirrued to the full height of
the wall, at a reduced depth of 0.19m. At the hzsine wall, a rectangular-
section timber placed in the sluice channel (Pl&eunderlies the wall, and
forms the bottom seal for the retractable sluicke gdbove. The north wall
reduces in height by 0.65m at a distance of 0.#2thé east of the sluice (Fig
8). The extant higher section of the wall has &daeturn into the hill slope,
suggesting that the wall height was increased enattea of the sluice and the
bridge, and was of a reduced height to the east.
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Plate 12: Timber sluice board, with stone flooritagthe left

4.2.4 The south wall (Wall A1_3; Fig 9) survives for andgh of 8.13m, and curves
sharply to the south-east from the position ofthace gate, and becomes an
earthfast bank below a well-established tree. Thall vis of similar
construction to the north wall, but is keyed inte bridge at its western end,
with one of the upper stones being keyed acrosgoiné between the two
elements at an angle of approximately 45° (Plate TBe aperture for the
sluice gate is of similar dimensions to that in tharth wall, although it
survives to a much lower height (Fig 9; Plate B)ain, it appears integral to
the initial construction of the wall, and incorptas the timber sluice board
within its base. The wall curves sharply to thete#irough an angle of
approximately 90°, presumably forming the westeouriary wall of the
reservoir. The wall was constructed to a greategteo the west of the sluice
aperture, extending up to the level of the bridgthe west.

s =4 R il e
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4.2.5

4.2.6

At the base of the south wall, at its junction wiile bridge, a square-section
stone post, 0.48m high, projects 0.2m from the wadle (Fig 9). This
corresponds with the position of a 0.30 x 0.23mtamgular aperture, set
slightly higher in the north wall (Fig 8). This frably housed a timber beam,
which would have been placed across the sluicejifay the top of a grate, to
prevent larger items of debris becoming lodged umide bridge. The base of
the sluice, to the east of the bridge, was largelyered by silts, demolition
debris, and recent tipping, but two areas of pastavival of the original
flooring were observed (Fig 7; Plate 12). These mised edge-set sandstone
blocks, aligned in rows, and sloping from the siddls of the sluice towards
the centre of the channel. These were well-pregewveler the bridge to the
west, where they had been protected from damadieedyridge above.

The sluice widens into the ravine of Pleck Brookhe west of the bridge, and
has been remodelled heavily (Fig 7). This mainlolaed the insertion of a

concrete channel into the base of the sluice, whigrlies the original edge-
set sandstone floor at its eastern extent. Thissleggng outer edges, with a
vertical drop into a 0.61m wide, flat-bottomed cahtchannel. It was

presumably constructed to repair the base of thieeslwhich terminates at the
end of the concrete flooring (Plate 14).
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4.2.7

4.2.8

The majority of the north wall (Wall A1_4) survivedong this part of the
sluice, although it has collapsed at its westemh and has lost several of the
capping stones along its length (Fig 10). It hatiset plinth, 0.42m above
its base (Plate 14), presumably for structural istyaband also allowing a
greater flow of water through the channel when iregli The southern wall
(Wall A1_6) survives to a greater height (a maximofr2.59m), and retains
several of its coping stones, laid in buck and styée, comprising alternating
raised and lower coping stones (Plate 15; Fig Al)its western end, level
with the end of the concrete channel within thaceluthe wall has a sharp
curve to the south-west into the ravine of the PBmok. However, the wall
has collapsed almost immediately beyond this charigdirection, surviving
only as a loose rubble core (Plate 15). Both walhe sluice abut the bridge
to the east.

e 3 : e T = -

Plate 15: South wall of sluice (A1_6) with concrsligice channel

Bridge: a bridge appears to be depicted in this positiorali the detailed
historic mapping $ection 3.5.5, aboyeand carries a track over the Pleck
Brook towards farms higher up the valley. It idl $ti use, and has a mud and
rubble track bed, which appears to be very shallabgve the structural
elements of the bridge. The bridge itself is ofrsed, local sandstone rubble
construction, with arches formed of edge-set, sandsblocks, which have
been roughly dressed (Figs 12 and 13; Plate 16)ls¥\the two elevations of
the bridge (Walls A1 2 and Al _5) survive in relativ good condition
(although the western facade is heavily overgrowh®,arch is in a very poor
state of repair. At its western end it has beenvihe@ompressed on its
southern side (Fig 13; Plate 17), whilst in parthef central area of the bridge,
it has collapsed completely, leaving a large v&ig (7; Plate 18).
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Plate 16: East face of brldge (A1 2)

Plate 17: West face of bridge (A1_2)

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010



Plantation Mill, Peel Park, Accrington, Lancashirarchaeological Survey 26

Plate 18: collapsed section of bridge, showingabdity of arch to west

4.2.9 Retaining walls: the watercourse widens into a steep-sided ravine
immediately to the west of the sluice and bridgkisTis the most probable
location for one of the overshot waterwheels ref@rto in the historical
documentation, although the area has been erodadilhdollowing the
abandonment of the mill complex. This erosion i$ ehgoing, with much of
the northern bank overhanging the ravine, and a baysion scar below. The
erosion is slightly less severe on the southera sidthe ravine, presumably
reflecting the flow of the water channel towards ttorthern side.

4.2.10 No physical evidence for either the wheel pit oy associated structural
elements survive on the northern side of the raditevever, two sections of
retaining wall do survive on the southern side. Bastern section of wall
(Wall A1_6; Fig 11) probably formed the southerntpa the sluice. It is of
roughly squared and coursed local sandstone rutioistruction, similar to
the sluice wall, and has a ragged eastern edgk,exftosed core and rubble
collapse in the intervening gap (Plate 19). Théapske may have originated at
a structurally weak point where the vertical wdlltlee sluice changed to the
battered retaining wall, the surviving elementsvbich have an angle of 18°.
At its western edge it has a faced return intohifislope, demonstrating this
to be the end of the wall.

4.2.11 Further wall core recessed into the exposed slbffieeaavine, immediately to
the west, suggests that a lower retaining walliooed from the rear edge of
the buttressed end of the retaining wall. One gedaif the lower retaining wall
survived for a length of 6.41m, and to a maximunglhteof 1.89m (Fig 11). It
is of similar sandstone construction to the othalsy but was heavily moss-
covered, obscuring any possible features (Plate 20its eastern end it had
collapsed, whilst its western end ran into the shilbe, suggesting the
termination of the retaining walls along the souathigank of the ravine.
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Plate 19: Buttressed retaining wall on the souttesif the ravine
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Plate 20: Overgrown and partially collapsed retaigiwall on the south side of the ravine

4.2.12 Wall foundation: the outline of two parallel walls was revealed witlthe
undergrowth towards the eastern end of the woodddnade the ravine (Fig 6).
These walls were aligned approximately east/west,veere set 1.41m apart.
They were composed of machine-made, red brick oaectgin, each of a full-
brick thickness, and surviving to a maximum lengtt2.1m. The position of
these walls corresponds with a small, detachedctste shown on the
Ordnance Survey map of 1893 (Fig 6), although tHeiction remains

unclear. Further associated structural elementsatly survive below ground
in the immediate vicinity.
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4.2.13 Tank/culvert: situated at a distance of approximately 6.5m t® west, a
larger area oin-situ remains was revealed within the undergrowth (Fig 6
Plate 21). These remains included a wall of machiade brick construction,
which was 1% bricks wide, and abutted a wall of dséwne rubble
construction at its eastern end. The latter walligad to three courses height,
and had a 0.40m wide channel of brick and stonstoaction in its base. This
ran 2.85m to the west, where it disappeared belwther stone wall, which
was capped with a small square structure, constluzt an edge-set refractory
brick. Part of the channel, was also capped witacéory tile, suggesting that
a possible tank overlying the culvert in this pasitmay have been heated.

Plate 21: Culvert below probable tank, Area 1

4.2.14 Garden features: further to the west, several rows of bricks andow ©of
edge-set sandstone flags, delineated the boundamoobeds (Fig 6). The
flags presumably formed the front of each bed, w&ithath running along the
southern side next to the retaining wall of theckveay (Fig 6). The other
edges comprised machine-made bricks, edge-sethatground, at an angle of
approximately 30°, giving an appearance of pyranpdgjecting from the
surface. This dogtooth-type arrangement was ayfaypical design used in
early/mid-twentieth century gardens (Taylor 1988).similarly lined path,
0.5m wide, separated the two beds. It was not plestd establish the extent
of either of the beds, although further evidencey nsarvive within the
undergrowth.
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4.3

43.1

4.3.2

4.3.3

AREA 2

The southern area comprised some 3800m?, and wamiéd on its southern
side by the remains of a heavily silted resenamd along its northern side by
a rough earth track (Figs 5 and 14). The area isded, with both large and
sapling trees, and has an under-storey of branablédsother scrub vegetation,
which probably conceal further structural remaihthe mill complex.

The reservoir was situated at a higher level tobthi&dings that it served, and
the adjoining walls of these structures survivesldiemolition of the complex,

presumably in order to maintain the integrity oé treservoir wall. Several

earthfast banks beyond the eastern limit of theysarea possibly represent
similar features. The top of one earthfast bankhiwitArea 2, situated

immediately to the rear of the surviving walls,uslised as a narrow path
along the north-western edge of the reservaoir.

At the eastern end of the study area, an eastaligsied sandstone wall (Wall
A2 1) survived for a length of 1.76m, and to a maxin height of 0.47m
(Figs 15 and 16). At ground level at its easterd, ¢he vestiges of a possible
northward return survived, whilst a damaged retarthe south survived at its
western end. This survived for a length of 2.57rheke it had an unclear
junction with a more substantial east/west-aligmedl (Wall A2_2), which
survived to a maximum height of 1.73m, and forragtd of 13.85m (Fig 15).
This contained elements of phasing, demonstratireg development of the
printworks over time. The initial phase comprisewall of roughly dressed
and coursed sandstone rubble, bonded in a limeam@ithough the majority
of the wall face comprised hungry joints (Plate.22)
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Wall A2_2, with blocked window apertuaesi inserted ceramic pipes

Plate 22:
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4.3.4 The earliest element of the wall contained threertapes, each measuring
0.92m wide, and almost certainly representing wivglanto the structure to
the north. The sills and straight-sided jambs wewastructed of the same
fabric as the wall, suggesting that the most inagp& construction
techniques were employed in this building. The @nes of windows in this
wall implies that the area immediately to the sowoththe building had
originally been open space. However, this spaceimfdled subsequently and
the window apertures blocked, with similar, butgktly smaller-sized
sandstone rubble. A series of six ceramic pipe®wegn cut through the wall
face, not only through each of the former windowerayres, but also in other
positions in the wall (Fig 17). These were all laiidh a fall to the north, and
would have supplied water directly from the reserutto the building. At its
western end, the wall was heavily degraded, commgrialmost exclusively
rubble core, and terminating in an earthen bankchvipresently forms the
path along the north-western edge of the rese(tarls).

4.3.5 Immediately beyond the bank of the path the wdlirres to the south (Wall
A2_3), emerging from the bank and surviving to aheof 1.00m. It curved
sharply to the west through 90° (Figs 15 and 18;eP23), probably forming
the rear of a storage bin, as these typically haded walls to prevent the
contents accumulating in corners. At its westert, ¢ime wall abuts a double-
skinned stone wall (Wall A2_4) with rubble core, gl presently terminates
at this point, but originally extended further b tnorth, the footings of which
survive for a short distance at ground level (F&. This wall is 0.5m thick
and survives to a maximum height of 1.45m, bonaedsi core with a pale
lime mortar. At its southern end, where it is keyetb an east/west-aligned
return, it has been partly remodelled subsequeatbilow for the insertion of
an overflow associated with a leat from the resemfoove (Figs 19 and 20).

SN N et (DTS |1
Plate 23: Curved Wall A2_3, possibly forming a atge bin
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4.3.6 The leat from the reservoir was constructed of rmecmade red bricks and
concrete, and incorporated the remains of a slyate at its eastern end (Plate
24). It appears to have originally dog-legged gligto the south, and entered
what was probably a tank that was situated betwleemeservoir wall and the
return wall of the building (Wall A2_5; Figs 19 ad). The aperture of the
leat had been brick-blocked subsequently, and tba between the retaining
wall of the reservoir and the rear wall of the Huify had been infilled with
rubble, forming a gradual slope between the twacsiires. The wall face
containing the leat aperture appeared to be paat lmittress, and whilst this
could not be established with confidence, it mayehbeen constructed as a
return of the south wall of the building (Figs 20, and 22; Plate 24).
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Plate 24: Blocked aperture for leat in Wall A2_#daattachment bolt protruding from face

4.3.7 An iron bolt projects 0.1m from the face of Wall A2 into the building,
immediately to the east of the return, presumabiynfng an attachment point
for framing or a fixture. A lower wall butts the tness, and continues to the
west, presumably forming the southern wall of tbéding, but surviving only
to a maximum height of 0.92m. At its western encbiitinues at ground level
into the undergrowth. Further vestiges of this vpahjected slightly from an
earthfast bank (Fig 21), suggesting that the wagdjimally continued further to
the west, possibly forming the original southerteexal wall of the building,
given its apparent width @f0.5m.
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4.3.8 The western end of the surviving section of Wall BA2was butted on its
southern side by a wall of similar construction (We_6), which survived to
a similar height for a distance of 1.39m (Figs 28 23), before returning at
an angle of approximately 45° (Figs 21 and 23;eP28). It seems likely that
this infilled the available space to the reservaiall, demonstrating the
documented expansion of the complex during thergkbalf of the nineteenth
century. Two further foundational remains of simikddth walls, on a similar
orientation to that to the north, appeared to regme an earlier L-shaped
extension to the southern side of the complex 2RigPlate 26). A 0.93m wide
gap in one of the walls also appeared to represeltorway, although given
the overgrown nature of these walls, it was nossjiids to determine whether
this was an original feature, or inserted aftertibéding was extended to the
reservoir wall to the south (Figs 3 and 4).
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Plate 26: Remains of earthfast walls forming anlieaexternal wall of the printworks
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4.3.9 The angled extension along the reservoir wall (W&ll 7; Fig 23) contained a
large recessed aperture, measuring 0.68m wide a#6mO0deep, which
survived to the full height of the extant wall (l25). Its rear wall comprised
vertically set sandstone flags, the upper of wheld been flattened into a
horizontal position by a large tree growing outlud reservoir wall (Plate 25).
The aperture, which had been stone blocked substguperobably represents
a deep window light, affording daylight into whataynhave been a half-
basement level; it could not be confirmed with edefice that this part of the
mill complex incorporated a half basement, althotilg was implied from the
level of the window light relative to the surroungiground. Conversely, it is
possible that the feature represented a verticalectperhaps leading into a
culvert in this narrow part of the building, whiebpeared to be a passage into
a larger room to the south-west (Fig 21). A les-meserved and narrower
aperture to the west, again partially infilled wigtone (Fig 23), may have
served a similar function.

4.3.10 The boundary wall has a further dog-leg at its emstend (Wall A2_8),
parallel to the stub-walls to the north (Figs 24 &3), and survives in a poor
state of repair, before returning to the south-Wé&ll A2_9; Figs 21 and 24).
This has a low return at its south-western end (W2l 10; Figs 21 and 24),
which butts the extant southern end of the ead@thfast walls to the north
(Wall A2_11; Figs 21 and 25). This has a keyedpeedicular return (Wall
A2_12), which terminates at a large tree trunk $F2d@ and 26).

4.3.11 The wall is obscured completely to the west by va&tyen for a distance of
approximately 12m, reappearing as a stone walldlim&h machine-made
bricks (Wall A2_13; Figs 27 and 28). This represeat remodelled or
strengthening of the wall, and comprises locallydm&\ccrington' red bricks
(Plate 27). At its western end, both the stone lanck elements of the wall
return to the north, at a height of only 0.39m,dbefreturning west as a
shallow battered, stone retaining wall, for a dis&aof 13m (Fig 29; Plate 28).
At the western end of the study area, this hagthward return as an earthfast
wall, the vertical face of which is visible interteintly for approximately
12.7m. In the undergrowth between these two wéiks,partial remains of a
culvert are visible (Plate 29). This is of stonengtouction, measures 1.86m
wide, and survives to a height of two courses snnibrthern side. It still
retains water at its western end, and follows tlhgnment of the retaining
walls. Its precise function remains, although isgibly represents a drain from
the main processing areas from the structures @djao the reservoir to the
east.
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Plate 29: Heavily overgrown culvert at western efid\rea 2
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4.3.12 Two further features were observed within the sgfaf the rough earth
trackway. The western of these represents therretia building wall (Fig
19), possibly forming the western end of Elevatiag 2 (Fig 14), and
forming the north-western corner of a rectangutexrm of approximately 17 x
7.75m. It was of double-skinned construction, wathrubble core, and was
0.51m wide (Plate 30), similar to those walls whieo¢h faces were observed
elsewhere.

Plate 30: Exposed return of building wall withiratkway in Area 2

4.3.13 To the north-east, and spanning the whole widththef track, a series of
sandstone blocks projecting from the road surfeeq@esent part of the base of
a large machine (Figs 7 and 30; Plate 31). The madied comprised several
dressed sandstone blocks, situated on a similantation to the main
structural walls. Each contained bolts of varyinges and arrangements in
their surfaces (Plate 32), with the areas of ruliidaveen, almost certainly
representing housings within the machine bed. Thetsire almost certainly
survives to a significant depth, and continues hdythe exposed area to the
north and east.
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Plate 31: Exposed machine base within trackwayreaa/

Plate 32: Fixing bolts and housings within dresbéatks of machine base
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5. DISCUSSION

51 INTRODUCTION

5.1.1 The archaeological survey has revealed tgatfgiant remains relating to the
calico-printing works survive across the study amihough demolition of
the complex in the mid-twentieth century removesl tigjority of the fabric of
the complex, several walls around the perimetethefsite survive to some
extent. Moreover, it appears that a consideraltiengf the building footprint
survives as buried remains within the undergrowatid probably at a shallow
depth in other areas.

5.1.2 The survey has also identified several phatastivity within the study area,
and an attempt at ascribing dates to these phasdseen undertaken based on
both the cartographic sequence, and the fabriceofdlative features.

52 PHASE 1

5.2.1 The evidence provided by the available docuangrsources indicates that the
initial phase of activity on the site pertains twe tlate eighteenth-century
fulling mill (Section 3.5.1 aboyeThe earliest cartographic evidence, dating to
1824 (Plate 7), is schematic in its detail, altHosgggests that a waterwheel
was positioned within the upper part of the ravimeaitilise the plentiful, fast-
flowing water supply to power the mill. Documentayurces further suggest
this to have been an overshot whegdtion 3.5.2 aboyewhich would have
been the most suited for the steep slope in theeruppart of the ravine.
Unfortunately, no physical evidence for either tmédl or the waterwheel
survive, with the extant fabric within the ravinknast certainly dating to the
Phase 2 expansion of the calico printworks. likisly, however, that the focus
of the eighteenth-century textile-manufacturing ¢ty a short distance to the
west of the nineteenth-century calico printworksd ®eyond the areas of the
archaeological survey.

53 PHASE 2

5.3.1 This phase dates to the expansion of the complex,its conversion to calico
printworks. It is uncertain precisely when this gramme of expansion was
carried out, although it may be dated on cartogaptiidence to the period
between the plan of 1824 and the Ordnance Survgyefdition 6”: 1 mile map
of 1848.

5.3.2 The structural evidence for this phase in Area thmases the bridge, sluice
and the associated retaining walls, all of whichreventegral to the
construction of the reservoir to the immediate @hdhe study area, prior to
1848. The new buildings were constructed to thehsofi the existing mill,
which was served by two new reservoirs; one toetist; and one to the south
of the new buildings. The sluice, positioned in ti@th-west corner of the
reservoir served as a bypass, allowing the watal l® be controlled within
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5.3.3

5.3.4

5.3.5

5.4

5.4.1

54.2

the reservoir, and discharging excess water baokRteck Brook. The sluice
and bridge are of continuous build on the soutlste, showing them to be
contemporary with the construction of the resetvaithough the remaining
walls of the sluice butt the bridge, and may haeerbrebuilt, or simply
constructed immediately after the bridge. Althoungirch of the retaining wall
on the southern side of the ravine has collapdes height of the surviving
elements suggest that it would be extremely unfikélat the waterwheel
would have been retained, as the linkage requaerthhsmit the driveshaft up
and over the wall, would have been extremely ioeffit.

The earliest fabric within Area 2, relates to tebuilding of the calico printing
complex during the early/mid-nineteenth centuryisTéncompassed a small
part of the extant fabric within Area 2, incorpangt walls A2_4, and A2_5
(Fig 14).

The surviving fabric of this period within Area 2lates to buildings
positioned close to the reservoir. It is very likahat these were used
specifically for the processes requiring the gretaganounts of water. Given
that the earliest stages of the textile-finishingpgess, comprising the
bleaching and dyeing of the fabric, would most lijkeave been undertaken
elsewhere within specialist works, the largest dahsafor water within the
printing process would have been for fixing thenpby steaming or 'ageing’,
and then for washing residues from the fixed gatsjemhich had the highest
water consumption. An apparent tank situated to sbigth of wall A2_5,

probably controlled the supply of water from theewevoir above.

The function of the structure at the south-westeomer of the complex,
incorporating the stone element of Wall A2_13, remmainclear. It is located
at some distance from the reservoir, and is depi@sebeing sited at the end of
the main approach from the west on the Ordnancee$umap of 1848,
suggesting that it was probably used as officesarehousing. The culvert to
the west may purely have been for drainage fromptiogessing areas to the
east, rather than relating to a building in thisipon.

PHASE 3

The third phase of activity identified across thedy area relates to a further
expansion of the complex towards the end of theteenth century, prior to

the publication of the Ordnance Survey first editkb”: 1 mile map of 1893.

This expansion of the complex reflects the growitithe Lancashire printing

industry in the latter part of the nineteenth ceptwhich accompanied the
burgeoning expansion of the cotton industry inrdggon.

Whilst it is possible that some rebuilding of tHeise walls dates to this
period, the main structural activity within Areaal this time appears to have
been to the south of the ravine of Pleck Brook @igThe stone-built culvert,
and associated stone walls, may represent the merobia heated tank, placed
on refractory slabs, which were commonly used frtra mid-nineteenth
century.

For the use of Jacobs Engineering (UK) Ltd © OA North: May 2010



Plantation Mill, Peel Park, Accrington, Lancashir@rchaeological Survey 39

5.4.3

5.4.4

5.4.5

5.4.6

5.5

5.5.1

The provision of heat was an important part of fhting process, and

became increasingly more so after the applicatibsteam to the various

processes of printing. Washing of the finished potdto remove residues of
both colour and mordants (fixatives used duringtprg), required the use of

both boiling and cold water, and from the earlyat@enth century steam was
applied to the fabric following printing, to prodaidrighter, 'steam colours'
(Turnbull 1951, 62).

The expansion of the complex during Phase 3 iglgleaible within Area 2.
This comprises Walls A2_6 to A2_12, and probably ¢arthfast walls to the
north of Walls A2_1 to A2 3, and A2 _7 to A2_9, alligh these may
comprise an earlier extension to the Phase 2 ateitdb the north (Fig 14).
The new build appears to represent a passagewag tle southern boundary
of the site, leading to two larger rooms who's Beut boundaries were
formed by Walls A2_9 to A2_12. The original windoapertures in Wall
A2_ 2, demonstrate that good lighting was requiraagd suggests that the
demolished structures to the south probably repteddow storage tanks, fed
from the reservoir and servicing the building te tiorth (Fig 14).

The curved, probable storage bin (Wall A2_3), gtsobably dates to this
phase, and was most probably used to store chenaisabciated with washing
or dunging of the printed cloth. The stone elema&intvall A2_13 (Fig 14)
appears to represent an outshut adjacent to thieesauwall of a long narrow
building shown in approximately this position or tBrdnance Survey map of
1894 (Figs 4 and 14), and the overgrown culverthi® west, was almost
certainly associated with the western end of thrsicture (Fig 14), and
appears to take waste water from the building.

The stone blocks exposed across the modern acesds d&lmost certainly
represent foundations beds for large machinery iwitthe mill. These
foundation beds lie within the footprint of buildi® shown on the Ordnance
Survey first edition 6" 1 mile map of 1848, sugmeg that they may
represent elements of the mid-nineteenth-centurfcazprinting works.
Subsequent editions of Ordnance Survey mappindy as¢he second edition
25" 1 mile map of 1911, indicate that a large améy had occupied this part
of the site, which is also shown on historical pigoaphs €g Plate 9). It seems
likely that this would have been placed adjacenth® boiler and engine
houses that provided the steam power for the @it it would therefore be
reasonable to suggest that the exposed foundatas Imay have been
intended to house a mid-nineteenth century steajmen

PHASE 4

This phase represents early twentieth-century retting of the complex, and
is signified by the use of machine-made red briok,which the town had

become renowned at this time. The mass productioorioks in the town

made it a cheaper alternative than even locallyrrgpeh sandstone, and its
uniform size and shape, combined with its exceplicstrength, made it
ideally suited for use within industrial buildings.
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5.5.2

5.5.3

5.6
5.6.1

5.7

5.7.1

5.7.2

5.7.3

Concrete also began to be commonly used duringptitied, and a rebuilding
of the sluice channel, to the west of the briddenoat certainly dates to this
phase.

Within Area 2, the final phase of modifications ttee working printworks
appears mainly to comprise alterations in watepbluplhis may relate to a
change in machinery, as advances in fixing tectlgyleere made in the late-
nineteenth century, with the invention of the steager, by Mather & Platt in
1879 (Turnbull 1951, 65). Associated improvementslunging and washing,
where machines similar to those used in the blegcprocess, spiralling the
cloth several times through water tanks and squgdmwls, 'depends entirely
on a good supply of wateivg cit, 67). The remodelled water supply appears
to have been delivered directly from the resertoithe tanks via ceramic
pipes, with the supply being controlled by tapsaadnt to the tanks, rather
than via sluices in the reservoir. However, thécslio the east of wall A2_4,
was remodelled in brick, although its aperture ithi® probable tank between
the building and the reservoir was blocked at thiee, suggesting that the
water was now piped directly into the building.

PHASE 5

This phase comprises the demolition of the ptexnin the 1930s, which
removed most of the structural fabric of the mMhilst nothing was
constructed at this time, it formed the basic ldayofl the present site,
removing most of the structures, infilling resergpiand raising the ground
level with piles of demolition debris.

PHASE 6

The final phase of activity relates to post-calicmting use of the site. Within

the study area the structural element of this ploasgprise what appear to be
garden beds between the ravine and the track. Tiser®® documentary

evidence pertaining to such activities within tpart of the park, although

their style suggests that they might possibly esl&d domestic market

gardening to increase the available food duringréttiening years during and
following the Second World War.

Further deterioration of the structural remainstioé complex have also
occurred during this phase. Of most significandlésestablishment of mixed
deciduous woodland, the roots of which will havendged any extant below-
ground remains. Similarly, the establishment ofesalvlarge trees along the
edge of the reservoir has severely compromised sdriie extant wall fabric.

Continual erosion has also occurred within therrayvand part of the bridge
has also collapsed. This problem has been furthiepounded by recent fly-
tipping and burning of refuse.

The track which afforded access to the westerndidiee printworks was also
extended, becoming the major access to the farniset@ast, compromising
the structures eroding out of the roadway, but &sditating their discovery.
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5.8

5.8.1

5.8.2

5.8.3

5.8.4

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER INVESTIGATION

The archaeological survey has demonstrated thairianut structural elements
of Plantation Mill survive extant, some of whicheaobscured by scrub
vegetation or material that has been tipped folhgnhe demolition of the
buildings. The survey has also indicated that tieemnsiderable potential for
important buried remains of the mill to surviiresitu, offering considerable
opportunities for further research and investigatio

Further investigation of the site could inform somk the initiatives for
archaeological research of the industrial and nmodgesriods stated in the
current Archaeological Research Framework for North Westgl&nd
(Brennand 2007). In particular, ‘industry specsitcadies are needed for those
industries that have received little archaeologigaéntion’” (Newman and
McNeil 2007, 154). Whilst the physical remains d¢fetregion’s textile
industry has received a considerable amount ofaaalogical investigation
and research since the late twentieth centag)\Yilliams with Farnie 1992;
Giles and Goodall 1992; OA North 2010), this hasdezl to focus on those
sites intended for cotton spinning and weaving, tlasse dominated the
industry. However, the textile-finishing brancheistioe industry, including
bleaching, dyeing and printing, were of key impocda to many Lancashire
towns. Very few, if any, nineteenth-century calanting works survive in
tact in the modern county of Lancashire, most hiaieen converted for other
uses or demolished (OA North 2010). In this respémhe, Plantation Mill is
of considerable archaeological interest as it ipooates rare physical
evidence for a nineteenth-century calico-printingrike, and has potential to
be presented a type site for this former industry.

Whilst this project has provided a detailed recofdwo significant areas of
the complex, many other features survive within ¥@nity. A systematic
photographic, and possibly drawn record of the iade of the site would
comprise a very economical next stage of fieldwarkd is likely to enhance
the present understanding of the complex.

Intrusive archaeological investigation of the $iteough targeted excavation is
similarly likely to provide further understanding the complex, and provide
important evidence for the operation and develogréthe mill. Excavation
of the site could be usefully targeted on the nmimcessing area, including
the area crossed by the modern track. This isylikelinclude the putative
engine and boiler houses, together with their aatst flues and water-
management features. The excavation and recorditigese buried structures
could be achieved through a community archaeolaggramme, involving
volunteers from the interested local community wagkwith professional
archaeologists.
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APPENDIX 1: PHOTOGRAPHIC INDEX

Frame| Date Area Description Dir
001 | 16/04/1C Area 2 General view of walls A2_1 & A2_2 S
002 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of wall A2_2 S
003 | 16/04/1C Area 2 General view of wall A2_2 S
004 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of wall A2_2 S
005 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of walls A2_2-A2 5 S
006 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of walls A2 5-A2 8 S
007 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of walls A2_6 - A2 8 ES
008 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of walls A2_6 - A2 8 ES
009 | 16/04/1C Area 2 General view of walls A2_7 - A2_9 ES
010 | 16/04/1C Area 2 General view of walls A2_9 & A2_10 SE
011 | 16/04/1C Area 2 General view of walls A2_11 & A2_1 SE
012 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of wall A2_13 S
013 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of wall A2_13 S
014 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 General view of wall A2_13 S
015 | 16/04/1C Area 2 General view of Retaining wallstvaf Wall S
016 | 16/04/1C Area 2 A2G_elr?eral view of Retaining wallstvaf Wall SW
017 | 16/04/1C Area 2 A2G_elr?eral view of Retaining wallstvaf Wall SW
018 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Aé_elr?eral view of Retaining wallstvaf Wall SW
019 | 16/04/1Q Area 1 Aé_elr?eral view of Retaining walhngl edge N

of trackway
020 | 16/04/1C Area 1 General view of Retaining wathnal edge N
of trackway

021 | 16/04/1C Area 1 Worn flagstones in footpath tetved area N
022 | 16/04/1( Area 2 General view, Area 2 SW
023 | 16/04/10 Area 2 General view of walls A2_5- A2 8 S
024 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of surviving internal wakgea 2 w
025 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_1 S
026 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_1 S
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027 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
028 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
029 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
030 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
031 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
032 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
033 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
034 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
035 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
036 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_2 S
037 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Curved wall, A2_3 SE
038 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Curved wall, A2_3 SE
039 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_4 E
040 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_4 E
041 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_5 S
042 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_5 S
043 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall to rear of Wall A2_ S
044 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall to rear of Wall A2_ S
045 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_7 SE
046 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_7 SE
047 | 16/04/1( Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_7 SE
048 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_7 SE
049 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_8 S
050 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_8 S
051 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_9 SE
052 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_9 SE
053 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_9 SE
054 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_9 SE
055 | 16/04/10  Area 2 Detail of Walls A2_9 & A2_10 SE
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056 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Walls A2_9 & A2_10 SE
057 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Walls A2_9 & A2_10 SE
058 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Walls A2_9 & A2_10 SE
059 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Walls A2_9 & A2_10 SE
060 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_11 E
061 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_11 E
062 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_12 S
063 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_12 S
064 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_13 S
065 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_13 S
066 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_13 S
067 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_13 S
068 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_13 S
069 | 16/04/10 Area 2 Detail of Wall A2_13 S
070 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
071 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
072 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
073 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
074 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
075 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
076 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
077 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
078 | 16/04/1C Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
079 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 S
080 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 SW
081 | 16/04/1Q Area 2 Retaining wall, west of Wall A2_13 SW
082 | 16/04/1Q Area 1 Reservoir wall, A1_3 SwW
083 | 16/04/10 Area 1 Reservoir wall, A1_3 SW
084 | 16/04/1C Area 1 Sluice wall, A1_3 SW
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085 | 16/04/10 Area 1 Sluice wall, A1_3 SwW
086 | 16/04/1Q Area 1 East wall of Bridge, A1_2 W
087 | 16/04/10 Area 1 Sluice wall, A1_1 NE
088 | 16/04/1C Area 1 Sluice wall, A1_1 NE
089 | 16/04/1C Area 1 Sluice wall, A1_1 NE
090 | 16/04/1C Area 1 Collapsed void in bridge arch NW
091 | 16/04/1C Area 1 Collapsed void in bridge arch NW
092 | 16/04/10 Area 1 Collapsed void in bridge arch NW
093 | 16/04/10 Area 1 Collapsed void in bridge arch NW
094 | 16/04/10 Area 1 Collapsed void in bridge arch NW
095 | 16/04/1Q Area 1 General view of Retaining wathnal edge S

of trackway
096 | 16/04/10 Area 1 General view of Retaining walthngl edge S

of trackway
097 | 16/04/1C Area 2 General view of machine bed SW
098 | 19/04/10 Area 2 General view of machine bed N
099 | 19/04/10 Area 2 General view of machine bed N
100 | 19/04/10 Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed N
101 | 19/04/1C Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed N
102 | 19/04/1C Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed S
103 | 19/04/10 Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed S
104 | 19/04/10 Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed S
105 | 19/04/10 Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed N
106 | 19/04/1( Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed N
107 | 19/04/10 Area 2 Detailed view of machine bed E
108 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Brick wall footings, Area 1 w
109 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Brick wall footings, Area 1 N
110 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Brick wall footings, Area 1 S
111 | 19/04/10 Area 1 General view of culvert and prid&nk NE
112 | 19/04/10 Area 1 baGS(SneraI view of culvert and prdddnk NE
113 | 19/04/10 Area 1 ZaGS(Sneral view of culvert and prdddnk NE

ase
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114 | 19/04/10 Area 1 General view of culvert and pridank W
115 | 19/04/10 Area 1 baé(jneral view of culvert and prddo#dnk W
116 | 19/04/10 Area 1 baé(jneral view of culvert and prddo#dnk S
117 | 19/04/10 Area 1 baE)S(ftail of culvert and probabl&kthase S
118 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabltaase S
119 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabltaase SW
120 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabltaase SW
121 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabl&taase NW
123 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probablétaase NE
124 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probablétaase NW
125 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probablétaase SW
126 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabltaase SW
127 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabltaase NE
128 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabl&kthase NE
129 | 19/04/1( Area 1 Detail of culvert and probabl&kthase NE
130 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of culvert and probablétaase NE
131 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Path edging/kerb for possible gatzkd S
132 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Path edging/kerb for possible gatzkd W
133 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Path edging/kerb for possible gatzkd N
134 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Edge-set flagstone kerb W
135 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Edge-set flagstone kerb S
136 | 19/04/1( Area 1 Kerbs and retaining wall S
137 | 19/04/10 Area 1 Detail of retaining wall S
138 | 19/04/10 Area 1 General view over possible gatels SW
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Figure 23: Area 2, Elevations A2_6 to A2_8
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Figure 24: Area 2, Elevations A2_9 and A2_10
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Figure 27: Detail of Wall A2_13, overlain onto the Ordnance Survey first edition 25™: 1 mile map of 1893
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Figure 29: Detail of retaining wall and culvert, overlain onto the Ordnance Survey map of 1893
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Figure 30: Detail of machine base, Area 2



- 428750

—-377450
—1-377500

- 428700

- 428650

377450
377500

ford
[ pPhaser [ |Phased [ | Studyarea 5 on i)
1750 @ A4
[ lPhase2 [ ] Phase 4 and Later Development R

Figure 31: Phased site plan overlain onto the Ordnance Survey first edition 25": 1 mile map of 1893
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Figure 32: Area 1, overlain onto the Ordnance Survey map of 1893, showing direction of photographs
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Figure 33: Area 2, overlain onto the Ordnance Survey map of 1893, showing direction of photographs
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